Case #: 1028997

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/25/2024 3:56 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/25/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 56781-4-II

M.R., an individual,

Petitioner,

VS.

State of Washington, et al.,

Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darrell L. Cochran WSBA No. 22851

Christopher E. Love WSBA No. 42832

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA PLLC

909 A Street, Suite 700 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 777-0799

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA ATTORNEYS AT LAW

I. Identity of Petitioner and Introduction

It is undisputed that Petitioner M.R. was groomed and sexually abused as a 17-year-old while being recruited by her future college basketball coach, Cody Butler. The parties' experts also agree that this childhood sexual abuse caused the continuing, escalating sexual abuse M.R. suffered after she turned 18 and joined Butler's basketball team, thousands of miles from home.

Now an adult, M.R. realized she had been sexually abused at age 17 and that abuse caused the years of continuing abuse she suffered. She asserted claims for recovery of all "injur[ies] suffered as a result of" that childhood sexual abuse—including the continuing sexual abuse after she turned 18. RCW 4.16.340(1).

The trial court denied summary judgment based on the undisputed record. Division Two reversed. M.R. asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II. **Appendix A.**

II. Court of Appeals Decision

Although acknowledging the issue as one of first impression, Division Two held in an unpublished opinion that M.R.'s continuing sexual abuse was not a recoverable "injury suffered as a result of childhood sexual abuse" under RCW 4.16.340(1) because it occurred after she turned 18.

First, Division Two narrowly construed the statute to exclude continuing sexual abuse as a recoverable "injury." It relied on RCW 4.16.340(5)—a provision this Court already has held only requires that the "starting point" for all "claims" to be an act of childhood sexual abuse—to conclude the legislature intended plaintiffs to split their claims based on "acts" of abuse occurring before and after age 18 and precluded recovery for the latter, even where the sexual abuse is a continuing course of conduct. Division Two's strict, narrow interpretation ignores this Court's holdings that both the statute's expansive terms

and its legislative history express clear legislative intent to liberally construe it in favor of providing a remedy for injuries resulting from childhood sexual abuse.

Second, Division Two's claims splitting interpretation violates this Court's holdings that statutes of limitation should *not* be interpreted to override Washington's longstanding prohibition on claims splitting—particularly where, as with continuing sexual abuse, the nature of the claim consists of multiple, interrelated acts causing harm.

Third, RCW 4.16.340(5)'s single prerequisite was met by M.R.'s *unrebutted* evidence that the childhood sexual abuse she suffered proximately caused her injuries, including the continuing sexual abuse. Yet Division Two held that Butler's continuing sexual abuse of M.R. was "independent" of the childhood sexual abuse and was not caused by the childhood sexual abuse—a finding of superseding cause. Division Two's opinion raising and determining the factual issues of proximate and

superseding cause for the first time on appeal violates our state constitution, the Rules of Appellate Procedure, and appellate precedent carefully circumscribing appellate courts' roles in reviewing summary judgment orders and prohibiting them from factfinding.

Finally, the issue of first impression of whether the same Legislature that intended to provide survivors of childhood sexual abuse with a broad avenue to redress its continuing injuries intended to cut off recovery for one of its most common, harmful resulting injuries—continuing sexual abuse—is of paramount importance to this State's many survivors. This issue requires this Court's definitive determination, not relegation to an unpublished opinion. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(3), (b)(4).

III. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Where RCW 4.16.340's only limitations on "claims or causes of action" is that they must be based on at least one act of childhood sexual abuse and seek recovery "of damages for injuries suffered as a result of childhood sexual abuse," does RCW 4.16.340(1) apply to childhood sexual abuse that continues after the survivor turns 18?
- 2. Where the parties' experts agreed that childhood sexual abuse proximately caused the continuing sexual abuse and Respondents did not raise the factual issue of superseding cause on summary judgment, did the Court of Appeals err in *sua sponte* raising superseding cause for the first time on appeal and determining the factual issues of superseding and proximate cause against M.R.?

IV. Statement of the Case

A. Facts Pertaining to M.R.'s Continuing Childhood Sexual Abuse

Division Two's opinion address the facts but glosses over key points. Opinion ("Op.") at 2-8.

In 2000, M.R. was a 17-year-old rising high school senior. CP 121. She participated in a basketball tournament in Nevada in hopes of being recruited to play

college basketball. CP 121-122. The tournament's director introduced her to Respondent Cody Butler, Yakima Valley Community College's ("YVCC") women's basketball coach. CP 12, 122, 155.

Butler actively tried to recruit her to join his YVCC team. CP 191. Butler and the director's comments quickly turned from her basketball skills to her body, beginning with her shoulders and arms. CP 123. ld. They then progressed to her buttocks and chest. CP 192. Finally, the director said "look at that V," referring to her abdominal muscles. CP 123. Without M.R.'s consent, Butler placed his hand on M.R.'s stomach and slid it down to the fringe of her pubic area, commenting "You don't see that every day. Not very many girls have that." CP 123, 192. Butler was satisfied that he had been able to touch her and commented that he "liked the way [M.R.] was built." CP 123. The director responded, "I told you, I had a girl for you." CP 123.

Both men's participation in this misconduct and Butler's position of authority made M.R. believe this behavior was normal and "part of what to expect at college-level athletics." CP 123, 203-04. Butler invited M.R. to YVCC by arranging a visit to occur the following year. CP 123.

When she visited YVCC in 2001 as an 18-year-old, Butler only continued and escalated the sexually abusive conduct he had begun normalizing when she was 17. During the visit, Butler commented to her on team members' "ass[es]," "tits," or other portions of their bodies, would "put his body on [hers]" to show her basketball "moves," and stood with her on the sidelines during practices and placed his hand on the small of her back. CP 123-26. Butler offered her a scholarship the next week. CP 126-127. However, Butler requested that she move to campus a month early without any money, food, family, or friends under the pretense of "get[ting] some extra practice

time." CP 127.

Once there and throughout her time at YVCC, Butler continued his pattern of isolation coupled with gradually escalating boundary erasures, sexualized comments, and touching. Over time, invitations to his house for dinner because he knew she had no money for food evolved into invitations to drink alcohol together. CP 127-29. Private weightlifting sessions entailed comments about her lack of a "chest," promises to "give [her] an ass" through weightlifting, and opportunities to press against her back and trace her arms. CP 127-28. Regular, private practice sessions to teach her basketball "moves" involved pulling her into his groin and thrusting his fully erect penis into her and pulling her down onto his lap and erect penis. CP 127-29. Late-night invitations to his office to look at team shoes for the next season or to create a highlight video to send to four-year colleges devolved into his constant demands for massages. CP 129. Out-of-town recruiting trips together under the pretext of teaching her to be a "leader" turned into dinners at nice restaurants, his comments on recruits' "nice ass[es]" or "long legs," and his warnings not to gain weight and look like recruits or teammates he found unattractive. CP 130, 140, 169. A trip to the mall to purchase a cell phone for Butler veered into Victoria's Secret, Butler's comments that M.R. would look "great" in certain lingerie, and purchasing a perfume for her that he said "turned him on." CP 140. And his constant, lengthy late night phone calls centered on demands that she not date anyone. CP 129.

After M.R. transferred to a four-year college in 2003, Butler wrote her a six-page letter. CP 77-82. He joked about becoming her "abusive boyfriend." CP 79. He told M.R. that he had thought about her every day for two years; he missed her; she would always be "special" to him; he would "always be there for [her]"; and to call him if she ever needed anything. CP 78-79, 82.

In 2004, Butler asked M.R. to visit him in Reno, Nevada. CP 134. M.R. agreed and met him at a bar. *Id.* After getting her intoxicated, Butler slept in the same bed and had intercourse with her. *Id.*

As a result of Butler's sexual harassment and abuse, M.R. went from being the captain of her basketball team to years of substance abuse; abusive relationships; and, eventually, prison. CP 192-193, 200-201, 204-205, 277, 295, 296-298. After her release, she threw herself into school, maintaining a full-time job, and starting a family. CP 192. A 2018 Federal Bureau of Investigation inquiry into the Nevada tournament director's and Butler's sexual misconduct with young female athletes caused her to realize for the first time that she had been sexually abused by Butler. CP 133, 136, 192.

/////

/////

/////

B. Procedural History

On June 22, 2019, M.R. filed this lawsuit alleging claims of negligence, sexual discrimination, negligent infliction of emotional distress, outrage, and assault against the State of Washington and Butler for injuries caused by Butler's childhood sexual abuse. CP 1-13.

The State moved for summary judgment. CP 32. Although it did not dispute the "timeliness of the allegation of childhood sexual abuse" when Butler touched M.R.'s stomach and the fringe of her pubic area at age 17, it argued that RCW 4.16.340 did not apply to the continuing sexual abuse suffered by M.R. after she turned 18 years old. CP 32-44; **Appendix B.**

M.R.'s expert and the State's expert agreed that Butler's nonconsensual touching of M.R.'s stomach and the fringe of her pubic area when she was 17 was sexual abuse. CP 199, 290-91, 319. Both experts also agreed that Butler's childhood sexual abuse caused the continuing

sexual abuse M.R. suffered by preventing her from distinguishing between abusive and healthy dynamics throughout her player-coach relationship with him and "desensitiz[ing]" her to "more inappropriate touching." CP 199-200, 290-91, 319. And they agreed that M.R. experienced all of the sexual abuse "as one continuous negative experience." CP 199, 315, 317.

The trial court denied summary judgment, observing that it was "appropriate" to apply RCW 4.16.340 "in the context of a series of events by the same alleged perpetrator . . . that began when the plaintiff was under 18." RP 35-36. It concluded that "with experts agreeing that it's impossible to segregate the harm, the court thinks of this as a continuous series of events and believes that it's prudent to apply the childhood sex abuse statute of limitations to the events." RP 36.

After the trial court certified its order for review under RAP 2.3(b)(4), the Court of Appeals accepted review only

of the statutory interpretation issue.¹ Op. at 14-15. It issued its opinion on December 12, 2023 and denied M.R.'s timely motion for reconsideration on February 22, 2024. **Appendix C.**

V. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

A. Division Two's Interpretation of RCW 4.16.340(1) Conflicts With Its Express Language, Legislative History, Intent, and This Court's Decisions

The Court's fundamental objective in statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislature's intent. Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). If a statute's meaning is plain on its

¹ The State had also argued that M.R. failed to demonstrate that Butler's childhood sexual abuse caused any of her injuries because the experts had testified it was impossible to pinpoint any single event as the sole cause of any of her injuries. The trial court rejected this argument, reasoning that "when either of the experts say I'm not tying [injuries] to a single event, that's not the same thing as saying the single event isn't part of a series of events that all contributed." RP 32.

face, then this court gives effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent. *State ex rel. Citizens Against Tolls (CAT) v. Murphy*, 151 Wn.2d 226, 242, 88 P.3d 375 (2004). Courts "must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them." *Restaurant Development, Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc.*, 150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003).

As this Court has repeatedly observed, critically important to RCW 4.16.340(1)'s analysis is that the 1991 Legislature gave specific interpretative direction as to its intent. Division Two's opinion ignored that mandatory guidance.

The 1991 amendments "specifically superseded a line of cases that had strictly applied the discovery rule in cases involving childhood sexual abuse." *C.J.C. v. Corp.* of Catholic Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 712, 985 P.2d 262 (1999). In doing so, "[t]he Legislature adopted 'findings and intent,' which make it clear that its primary

concern was to provide a *broad avenue of redress* for victims of childhood sexual abuse who too often were left without a remedy under previous statutes of limitation." *C.J.C.*, 138 Wn.2d at 712 (emphasis added); *see also* LAWS OF 1991, ch. 212, § 1 ("Childhood sexual abuse is a traumatic experience for the victim causing long-lasting damage."). Based on these findings, this Court concluded that the legislature intended a "broad reading and application of the statute." *Id.* at 713.

This Court has consistently applied that intended liberal construction in favor of providing a remedy to survivors of childhood sexual abuse, regardless of the statutory term being interpreted. *Wolf v. State*, 2 Wn.3d 93, 534 P.3d 822, 832 (2023) (applying "the underlying purpose of RCW 4.16.340—to provide broad protection for victims of childhood sexual abuse" in interpreting the term "act"); *C.J.C.*, 138 Wn.2d at 709, 713-14 (applying legislative intent of "a broad reading and application of the

statute" in interpreting term "based on intentional conduct").

The statute's language also reflects the intended liberal construction. Its "broad language is critical to its interpretation." *Wolf*, 534 P.3d at 830; *accord C.J.C.*, 138 Wn.2d at 709 (statute's "expansive" language indicative of intent). It applies to "[a]II claims or causes of action based on intentional conduct . . . for recovery of damages *for injury* suffered as a result of childhood sexual abuse." RCW 4.16.340(1) (emphases added).

The Court may use dictionary definitions to interpret the undefined term "injury." *Accord C.J.C.*, 138 Wn.2d at 709 (using ordinary dictionary meanings to define "based on"). Black's Law Dictionary defines "injury" to include "[a]ny harm or damage," including "bodily injury." Injury, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). Likewise, Webster's defines "injury" as "an act that damages, harms, or hurts." Injury, *Webster's Third New International*

Dictionary 1164 (1986).

The continuing sexual abuse M.R. suffered after age 18 meets either definition. RCW 4.16.340(1) contains no exclusions based on the type or timing of "injury," such as continuing sexual abuse continuing past age 18. Had the legislature intended to exclude certain types of injuries or harms from this term, it knew how to do so. See, e.g., RCW 49.60.510(1)(a) (specifying "physical or psychiatric injury").

Instead, the *only* limitation RCW 4.16.340(1) imposes on "claims or causes of action" is that they seek "recovery for damages for injury suffered as a result of"—i.e., caused by—childhood sexual abuse. *See*, e.g., *State v. Christman*, 160 Wn. App. 741, 754, 249 P.3d 680 (2011) (similar statutory term "resulting in" incorporates common law principles of proximate cause). Where Butler's childhood sexual abuse of M.R. undisputedly caused her injuries, including the continuing sexual abuse, the statute's plain language allows recovery. Division Two's

interpretation impermissibly added the term "injury (except continuing sexual abuse) suffered as a result of childhood sexual abuse."

Division Two nonetheless concluded that because RCW 4.16.340(5)'s definition of "childhood sexual abuse" refers to "any act committed by the defendant against a complainant who was less than eighteen years of age at the time of the act," it categorically distinguishes between sexually abusive "acts" before and after age 18 and excludes any recovery for the latter. Op. at 11.

But in rejecting similar arguments that RCW 4.16.340(5) limited the term "claims based on intentional conduct" under .340(1) to those against the perpetrators of childhood sexual abuse, this Court previously held:

we read the statutory definition of 'childhood sexual abuse' as *limiting only* the specific predicate sexual conduct upon which all claims or causes of action must be based.

C.J.C., 138 Wn.2d at 712 (emphasis added).² So long as the "starting point" for a plaintiff's claims is an act of childhood sexual abuse, the statute applies to them because they "stem from injuries suffered as a result of intentional childhood sexual abuse." *Id.* at 709-10. "As long as the predicate of that harm is the childhood sexual abuse, RCW 4.16.340 provides a mechanism for redress." *Wolf*, 534 P.3d at 830.

That single prerequisite was satisfied here. Each of M.R.'s claims were based on an undisputed act of childhood sexual abuse and sought recovery for "injuries suffered as a result" of that childhood sexual abuse, including the continuing sexual abuse. Division Two's

² Similarly, Division Two held that RCW 4.16.340(2) suggest legislative intent to exclude childhood sexual abuse continuing past age 18 from recovery under RCW 4.16.340(1). Op. at 12-13. But that provision does not control the meaning of" terms in RCW 4.16.340(1). *Wolf*, 534 P.3d at 831.

application of RCW 4.16.340(5) to further limit recovery under RCW 4.16.340(1) contravenes the Legislature's intent previously established by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(4).

B. Division Two's Interpretation of a Statute of Limitations to Require Plaintiffs to Split Claims Involving an Interrelated Course of Conduct Conflicts with This Court's Decisions and the Statue's Plain Language and Intent

Division Two also concluded that RCW 4.16.340(5) essentially splits a plaintiff's claims between "acts" of childhood sexual abuse occurring before and after age 18, excluding separate "claims" for the latter. Op. at 12. But in determining whether multiple wrongful acts constitute a single claim or multiple claims under a statute of limitations, courts must "focus[] on the nature of the claim itself" and relevant legislative intent underlying the substantive cause of action. *Antonius v. King Cnty.*, 153 Wn.2d 256, 265, 103 P.3d 729 (2004).

Thus, this Court repeatedly has rejected

interpretations that each wrongful "act" is a separate "claim" where the claim is "based on the cumulative effect of individual acts" or where "injury" could result from a series of "interrelated" acts rather than a single wrongful "act." *Antonius*, 153 Wn.2d at 268, 270 (Washington Law Against Discrimination hostile work environment claim); *Caughell v. Grp. Health Co-op. of Puget Sound*, 124 Wn.2d 217, 224, 230, 876 P.2d 898 (1994) (medical malpractice claims involving a continuing course of treatment).

Interpreting multiple wrongful acts to constitute a single "claim" is particularly compelled when consistent with a statute's liberal construction and underlying purpose, *Antonius*, 153 Wn.2d at 267-68; when it is not possible to "segregate the damages" caused by each wrongful act, *Caughell*, 124 Wn.2d at 222; where nothing in the statute's history supports an intent to require plaintiffs to split their claims between multiple wrongful acts, *id.* at 227, 230; and where "splitting claims has the

practical and unfair effect of insulating" from liability for wrongful conduct outside the limitations period even where it was interrelated with wrongful conduct within the period and was a cause of the plaintiff's damages, *Id.* at 230.

Division Two's opinion is at loggerheads with this precedent. First, like the claims at issue in *Antonius* and Caughell, the undisputed factual record here is that the sexual abuse M.R. experienced was a series of interrelated acts; the childhood sexual abuse caused the continuing sexual abuse past age 18; her injuries were the result of the cumulative effects of individual acts; she experienced the sexual abuse as one continuous, negative event; and her damages cannot be segregated between any single "act" as the sole cause. CP 199-200, 277, 291, 311-12, 315-17, 321, 330, 332-33. Indeed, Division Two conceded that the sexual abuse was a "continuing course of conduct." Op. at 12 (distinguishing *Wolf*).

Second, the legislature presumably knew of

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