#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/24/2024 10:43 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102899-7

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

M.R., an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, YAKIMA VALLEY COMMUNITY COLLEGE, a public corporation; CODY BUTLER, and individual, at al.,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JULIE A. TURLEY Assistant Attorney General WSBA 49474 PO Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98401-2317 253-593-5243 OID #91105

## **

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

# IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court may grant review of a Court of Appeals' decision terminating review under four circumstances. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). M.R. claims that the Court of Appeals' decision here meets all four standards because it allegedly conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent, presents a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution (presumably under article I, section 21, although she does not cite it directly),<sup>1</sup> and involves an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 13, 20, 25, 29. None of her arguments

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In referencing a litigant's "state constitutional right to have a jury determine factual issues," M.R. cites *Haley v. Amazon.com Servs., LLC*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 207, 218, 522 P.3d 80 (2022), which cites article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution. Pet. at 25.

provide a basis for review, and this Court should deny her petition.

# A. The Court of Appeals Properly Interpreted and Applied RCW 4.16.340

The Court of Appeals properly held that the childhood sexual abuse statute of limitations does not apply to allegations of adult sexual abuse. This decision was based on the plain language of the statute and the Legislature's stated intent.

The underlying order at issue – the trial court's denial of summary judgment – is reviewed de novo, with the appellate court engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 305, 96 P.3d 957 (2004) (en banc). Furthermore, the legal issue here is a question of statutory interpretation, which is also reviewed de novo on appeal. *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

In applying the plain language of the statute, the Opinion correctly interpreted the law, does not present any significant constitutional question, and is not in conflict with any Washington Supreme Court precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3); Pet. at 13, 20. Furthermore, the court's adherence to the legislative intent does not present any significant public interest issue that would call for review. RAP 13.4(b)(4); Pet. at 29.

#### 1. The plain language and legislative intent support the Court of Appeals' decision

The goal of statutory interpretation is to "ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent." Campbell, 146 Wn.2d at 9. If statutory meaning is clear on its face, the appellate court is to give effect to that plain language "as an expression of legislative intent." *Id.* at 9-10. Words are to be given their plain and obvious meaning, but the court may also examine the statute as a whole, giving effect to all the language used and related enactments to determine plain meaning. Id. at 11-12. "Under rules of statutory construction 'no part of a statute should be deemed inoperative or superfluous unless it is the result of obvious mistake or error." In re Det. of Strand, 167 Wn.2d 180, 189, 217 P.3d 1159, 1163 (2009) (quoting Klein v. Pyrodyne Corp., 117 Wn.2d 1, 13, 810 P.2d 917, 817 P.2d 1359 (1991)). Only if a statute is susceptible

to two or more reasonable interpretations should a court extend its inquiry to other statutory construction principles or legislative history. *Campbell*, 146 Wn.2d at 12.

Plain language construction resolves this case. The plain language of RCW 4.16.340 provides that it only applies to claims based on sexual abuse that occurs when a plaintiff is a minor, and does not extend to claims based on subsequent adult sexual abuse. The statute first provides as follows: "All claims or causes of action based on intentional conduct brought by any person for recovery of damages for injury suffered as a result of childhood sexual abuse shall be commenced within the later of the following periods...." RCW 4.16.340(1). "[C]hildhood sexual abuse' means any *act* committed by the defendant against a complainant who was less than eighteen years of age at the time of the act...." RCW 4.16.340(5) (emphases added). By the statute's own words, this special limitations period applies to (a) any "claim" (b) based on intentional conduct (c) to recover for "injury" resulting from (d) an *act* of sexual abuse that occurs when a person is under 18 years old.

The words "claim" and "injury" as used in the statute must have different meanings, otherwise one would be rendered superfluous. *See In re Det. of Strand*, 167 Wn.2d at 189. Plaintiff's proposed construction renders the latter word a nullity. *See* Pet. at 16-17. The Court of Appeals' construction avoids this result.

In addition, the court's statutory interpretation is supported by every portion of the statute that establishes the age of majority as a dividing line for its application. For instance, a parent's knowledge cannot be imputed to a person under 18. RCW 4.16.340(3). And the term "child" is explicitly defined as a person under 18. RCW 4.16.340(4).

The only section that potentially bridges childhood and adulthood is subsection (2), which addresses how to calculate the discovery rule in a continuing series of abuse that is "part of a common scheme or plan of sexual abuse or exploitation."

12

RCW 4.16.340(2).<sup>2</sup> Factually, this provision would not apply to this case because M.R. did not experience a continuous series of abuse as a minor that continued into adulthood. Rather, M.R. alleged a single touching incident as a minor separated by about a year before she began attending YVCC as an adult. CP 127, 191. And legally, as the Court of Appeals noted, subsection (2) of the statute of limitations does not save M.R.'s adult claims because it does not alter the definition of childhood sexual abuse to encompass acts of abuse in adulthood. M.R., 2023 WL 8598272 at \*7 ("[Subsection (2)] does not state that every act that occurs during the course of the common scheme or plan of sexual abuse that occurs after the plaintiff turns 18 qualifies as an act of childhood sexual abuse."). If the Legislature wished, it could have incorporated the "common scheme or plan" language into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 4.16.340(2) provides: "The victim need not establish which act in a series of continuing sexual abuse or exploitation incidents caused the injury complained of, but may compute the date of discovery from the date of discovery of the last act by the same perpetrator which is part of a common scheme or plan of sexual abuse or exploitation."

the definition of childhood sexual abuse in subsection (5). RCW 4.16.340(2), (5). It did not do so, and appellate courts presume that the omission was intentional. *State v. M.S.*, 197 Wn.2d 453, 470, 484 P.3d 1231 (2021). Instead, the statute as a whole is clear and unambiguous that the Legislature drew a line between acts of abuse that occur as a child and acts of abuse that occur as an adult.

The Court of Appeals agreed, and that holding is also consistent with the Legislature's policy choice as reflected in its intent section. In 1991, the Legislature found that "[c]hildhood sexual abuse is a pervasive problem," and that plaintiffs as minors "may be unable to understand or make the connection between childhood sexual abuse and emotional harm or damage until many years after the abuse occurs." Laws of 1991, ch. 212 § 1. The expanded statute of limitations was intended to account for the particular problem of children repressing injuries or being unable to connect the abuse to their damage until after the typical statute of limitations had run. *Id.* Nothing in this stated intent section contemplates applying the statute to abuse occurring as an adult.

The Court of Appeals' holding is consistent with this Court's precedent as well. The Legislature's "primary concern" in enacting RCW 4.16.340 "was to provide a broad avenue of redress for victims of childhood sexual abuse who too often were left without a remedy under previous statutes of limitation." *C.J.C. v. Corp. of Cath. Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 712, 985 P.2d 262 (1999). But a "broad avenue" does not mean an *unlimited* construction of the statute, one that would apply it to claims beyond its target of childhood sexual abuse.

The Court of Appeals properly held that RCW 4.16.340 applies only to that intended target: claims for sexual abuse that occur when a person is a child. *M.R.*, 2023 WL 8598272 at \*7. That decision is not in conflict with any published Court of Appeals decision, this Court's precedent, or our Constitution. The Opinion's adherence to legislative intent is not in conflict with public interest. M.R. cannot show that review is appropriate under any prong of RAP 13.4(b).

# 2. The Court of Appeals Opinion does not require claim-splitting

The Court of Appeals' Opinion does not institute claimsplitting, as M.R. argues. *See* Pet. at 20. Claim splitting is the practice of filing multiple suits for "personal injury damage resulting from a single tort alleged against the wrongdoer." *Landry v. Luscher*, 95 Wn. App. 779, 782, 976 P.2d 1274 (1999) (citation omitted). Nothing in the Opinion requires a plaintiff like M.R. to split a tort claim for an alleged act that constitutes sexual abuse – whether as a child or as an adult – into multiple suits. Rather, each individual act that constitutes an unwanted touching is separately subject to evaluation under the statute of limitations, as is every personal injury claim. RCW 4.16.080(2).

The Legislature reflected this common sense approach in its application of RCW 4.16.340 to only certain types of acts perpetrated on a minor victim—those that meet the definition of a crime under Washington's sex offenses statutes.

16

RCW 4.16.340(5) (citing RCW 9A.44 and RCW 9.68A.040). Some of those sex offenses involve sexual touching of children that, if made as to an adult, would not qualify as a sex offense under RCW 9A.44 or RCW 9.68A.040, but would, instead, qualify as an assault with sexual motivation. *See, e.g.*, RCW 9A.36.021 (assault in the second degree); RCW 9.94A.835 (special allegation – sexual motivation). Thus, the Legislature envisioned a scheme in which an expanded statute of limitations applies to some types of sexual touching but not others, depending solely on the age of the plaintiff when the acts occurred. The Court of Appeals' adherence to the Legislature's intent is not claim-splitting.

# **3.** The Opinion is not in conflict with this Court's precedent on claim-splitting

To argue that the Opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent, M.R. relies on inapposite cases that interpreted unique causes of action not at issue here. *See* Pet. at 20-21 (citing *Antonius v. King County*, 153 Wn.2d 256, 103 P.3d 729 (2004)

and *Caughell v. Group Health Co-op. of Puget Sound*, 124 Wn.2d 217, 876 P.2d 898 (1994)). These cases do not form a basis for review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

It is true that, for the purpose of applying the statute of limitations, a hostile work environment claim is examined as a "series of acts that collectively constitute one unlawful employment practice." Antonius, 153 Wn.2d at 265-66. A "single act of harassment may not be actionable on its own," because the hostile work environment claim is "based on the cumulative effect of individual acts." Id. at 270 (quoting Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgan, 536 U.S. 101, 115 (2002)) (emphasis added). Such a cumulative cause of action is in direct contrast to a claim based upon "discrete acts." Id. Likewise, a medical malpractice claim for continuing negligent treatment is not a cause of action consisting of a single act. Rather, it is based upon multiple actions constituting "an entire course of treatment." Caughell, 124 Wn.2d at 226 (internal quotations omitted).

But unlike a plaintiff bringing a hostile work environment or malpractice claim for continuing negligent treatment, a plaintiff like M.R. claiming sexual abuse is making a claim based upon "discrete acts." Cf. Antonius, 153 Wn.2d at 270. Such a plaintiff need not prove a series of cumulative effects or instances of misconduct to articulate a claim of sexual abuse. Even one discrete act of sexual abuse could be recoverable. See Restatement (Second) of Torts § 18 (battery), § 21 (assault); RCW 4.16.340(5) (defining childhood sexual abuse as an act that violates Washington's criminal code for sex offenses). And the Legislature's repeated emphasis on "an act" in the childhood sexual abuse statute of limitations supports this basic feature of claims for sexual abuse. E.g., RCW 4.16.340(5) (emphasis added). Thus, M.R.'s attempt to graft her theory of legal causation onto her argument that sexual abuse claims are like hostile work environment or medical malpractice is contrary to the legal definitions that give rise to her claims in the first place. See Pet. at 24 (arguing the Opinion deprives plaintiffs a remedy

for "the most severe form of 'injury suffered as a result of childhood sexual abuse"—continuing and escalating sexual abuse—even when it is *proximately caused by* ... childhood sexual abuse" (emphasis added)). Sexual abuse is not like a hostile work environment or continuing negligent medical treatment because each *discrete act* of abuse is a new claim and not a continuous series of events falling under a single claim.

In sum, the Court of Appeals' holding that the childhood sexual abuse statute of limitations applies only to claims based on abuse that occurs in childhood adheres to Court of Appeals' and Supreme Court precedent. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

### B. The Court of Appeals Properly Rejected M.R.'s Attempt to Incorporate Adult Sexual Abuse into the Meaning of "Injury" Resulting from Childhood Sexual Abuse

Each of M.R.'s arguments for review depend on her faulty reading of a phrase in RCW 4.16.340(1): "All claims or causes of action based on intentional conduct ... for recovery of *damages for injury suffered as a result of childhood sexual*  *abuse*..." (emphasis added). M.R. posits that adult sexual abuse is an "injury" that *results from* childhood sexual abuse, and therefore she should be able to recover damages for both because Butler allegedly sexually abused her a single time when she was under 18. *See, e.g.*, Pet. at 16-17.

Essentially, M.R. advocates that she can prove an "injury" resulting from childhood sexual abuse by proving the elements of another, future intentional tort: an assault or battery as an adult. *See Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 18 (battery), § 21 (assault). Thus, M.R. seeks to nest one tort claim within another. If allowed, *any* alleged act of sexual abuse during childhood would transform *all* subsequent adult sexual abuse into recoverable damages subject to the childhood sexual abuse statute of limitations.

Following M.R.'s argument, adult sexual abuse would be counted twice in a plaintiff's claims: once as an injury of childhood sexual abuse and again as its own claim of assault or battery. Although here M.R.'s alleged perpetrator is the same individual across her claims, her argument has no guardrails. Ostensibly, any time a plaintiff has experienced sexual abuse as a child, any defendant of a claim based on that abuse could be subject to the plaintiff's claims for future adult sexual abuse perpetrated by anyone at any time because, as social science teaches us, childhood abuse makes a person statistically more likely to experience abuse as an adult. *See* Pet. at 30-31.

Furthermore, M.R. also suggests that grooming – which does not meet the statutory definition of childhood sexual abuse in RCW 4.16.340(5) – might also tie the childhood sexual abuse statute of limitations to adulthood injuries. Pet. at 30. This, too, would stretch the statute beyond its plain meaning, as only crimes that fall under RCW 9A.44 or 9.68A.040 statutorily qualify as childhood sexual abuse so as to trigger the special statute of limitations. RCW 4.16.340(5).

All of these implications from M.R.'s nesting argument stretch the special statute of limitations beyond its plain meaning and intended purpose, as discussed above. The Court of Appeals

22

properly rejected M.R.'s argument in reversing the trial court's denial of summary judgment. To poke holes in the panel's decision, M.R. employs two faulty arguments: that the Court of Appeals exceeded its authority as an appellate court, and that the parties have already agreed on causation. This Court should reject both by denying her petition for review.

### 1. The Court of Appeals did not violate the Washington Constitution by rejecting M.R.'s primary legal argument

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